

Effective:[See Text Amendments]

Code of Federal Regulations Currentness

Title 29. Labor

Subtitle B. Regulations Relating to Labor

Chapter XIV. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission

Part 1604. Guidelines on Discrimination Because of Sex (Refs & Annos)

→ § 1604.1 **General principles.**

(a) References to “employer” or “employers” in this Part 1604 state principles that are applicable not only to employers but also to labor organizations and to employment agencies insofar as their action or inaction may adversely affect employment opportunities.

Comment [J1]: Included in new Chapter 3.

(b) To the extent that the views expressed in prior Commission pronouncements are inconsistent with the views expressed herein, such prior views are hereby overruled.

Comment [J2]: Not included in new Chapter 3.

(c) The Commission will continue to consider particular problems relating to sex discrimination on a case-by-case basis.

Comment [J3]: Not included in new Chapter 3.

SOURCE: 37 FR 6836, April 5, 1972, unless otherwise noted.

AUTHORITY: Sec. 713(b), 78 Stat.265, 42 U.S.C. 2000e–12.

29 C. F. R. § 1604.1, 29 CFR § 1604.1

Current through August 29, 2013; 78 FR 53369

© 2013 Thomson Reuters.

END OF DOCUMENT

Effective:[See Text Amendments]

Code of Federal Regulations Currentness

Title 29. Labor

Subtitle B. Regulations Relating to Labor

▣ Chapter XIV. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission

▣ Part 1604. Guidelines on Discrimination Because of Sex (Refs & Annos)

→ § 1604.2 Sex as a bona fide occupational qualification.

(a) The commission believes that the bona fide occupational qualification exception as to sex should be interpreted narrowly. Label--“Men’s jobs” and “Women’s jobs”--tend to deny employment opportunities unnecessarily to one sex or the other.

Comment [J4]: (a). New MHRC Reg says BFOQ must be construed “very narrowly,” which is consistent with *LeBlond v. Sentinel Serv.*, 635 A.2d 943, 944 (Me. 1993)

(1) The Commission will find that the following situations do not warrant the application of the bona fide occupational qualification exception:

(i) The refusal to hire a woman because of her sex based on assumptions of the comparative employment characteristics of women in general. For example, the assumption that the turnover rate among women is higher than among men.

Comment [J5]: In new MHRC Reg.

(ii) The refusal to hire an individual based on stereotyped characterizations of the sexes. Such stereotypes include, for example, that men are less capable of assembling intricate equipment; that women are less capable of aggressive salesmanship. The principle of nondiscrimination requires that individuals be considered on the basis of individual capacities and not on the basis of any characteristics generally attributed to the group.

Comment [J6]: In new MHRC Reg.

(iii) The refusal to hire an individual because of the preferences of coworkers, the employer, clients or customers except as covered specifically in paragraph (a)(2) of this section.

Comment [J7]: In new MHRC Reg.

(2) Where it is necessary for the purpose of authenticity or genuineness, the Commission will consider sex to be a bona fide occupational qualification, e.g., an actor or actress.

Comment [J8]: In new MHRC Reg.

(b) Effect of sex-oriented State employment legislation.

Comment [J9]: Not included in Chapter 3. Maine labor laws specific to women have been repealed. See 26 M.R.S. §§ 731-738.

(1) Many States have enacted laws or promulgated administrative regulations with respect to the employment of females. Among these laws are those which prohibit or limit the employment of females, e.g., the employment of females in certain occupations, in jobs requiring the lifting or carrying of weights exceeding certain prescribed limits, during certain hours of the night, for more than a specified number of hours per day or per week, and for certain periods of time before and after childbirth. The Commission has found that such laws and regulations do not take into account the capacities, preferences, and abilities of individual females and, therefore, discriminate on the basis of sex. The Commission has concluded that such laws and regulations conflict with and are superseded by title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. Accordingly, such laws will not be considered a defense to an otherwise established unlawful employment practice or as a basis for the application of the bona fide occupational qualification exception.

(2) The Commission has concluded that State laws and regulations which discriminate on the basis of sex with regard to the employment of minors are in conflict with and are superseded by title VII to the extent that such laws are more restrictive for one sex. Accordingly, restrictions on the employment of minors of one sex over and above those imposed on minors of the other sex will not be considered a defense to an otherwise established unlawful employment practice or as a basis for the application of the bona fide occupational qualification exception.

(3) A number of States require that minimum wage and premium pay for overtime be provided for female employees. An employer will be deemed to have engaged in an unlawful employment practice if:

(i) It refuses to hire or otherwise adversely affects the employment opportunities of female applicants or employees in order to avoid the payment of minimum wages or overtime pay required by State law; or

(ii) It does not provide the same benefits for male employees.

(4) As to other kinds of sex-oriented State employment laws, such as those requiring special rest and meal periods or physical facilities for women, provision of these benefits to one sex only will be a violation of title VII. An employer will be deemed to have engaged in an unlawful employment practice if:

(i) It refuses to hire or otherwise adversely affects the employment opportunities of female applicants or employees in order to avoid the provision of such benefits; or

(ii) It does not provide the same benefits for male employees. If the employer can prove that business necessity precludes providing these benefits to both men and women, then the State law is in conflict with and superseded by title VII as to this employer. In this situation, the employer shall not provide such benefits to members of either sex.

(5) Some States require that separate restrooms be provided for employees of each sex. An employer will be deemed to have engaged in an unlawful employment practice if it refuses to hire or otherwise adversely affects the employment opportunities of applicants or employees in order to avoid the provision of such restrooms for persons of that sex.

Comment [J10]: In new MHRC Reg.

SOURCE: 37 FR 6836, April 5, 1972, unless otherwise noted.

AUTHORITY: Sec. 713(b), 78 Stat.265, 42 U.S.C. 2000e-12.

29 C. F. R. § 1604.2, 29 CFR § 1604.2

Current through August 29, 2013; 78 FR 53369

© 2013 Thomson Reuters.

END OF DOCUMENT

Effective:[See Text Amendments]

Code of Federal Regulations Currentness

Title 29. Labor

Subtitle B. Regulations Relating to Labor

Chapter XIV. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission

Part 1604. Guidelines on Discrimination Because of Sex (Refs & Annos)

→ § 1604.3 **Separate lines of progression and seniority systems.**

(a) It is an unlawful employment practice to classify a job as “male” or “female” or to maintain separate lines of progression or separate seniority lists based on sex where this would adversely affect any employee unless sex is a bona fide occupational qualification for that job. Accordingly, employment practices are unlawful which arbitrarily classify jobs so that:

Comment [J11]: In new MHRC Reg.

(1) A female is prohibited from applying for a job labeled “male,” or for a job in a “male” line of progression; and vice versa.

(2) A male scheduled for layoff is prohibited from displacing a less senior female on a “female” seniority list; and vice versa.

(b) A Seniority system or line of progression which distinguishes between “light” and “heavy” jobs constitutes an unlawful employment practice if it operates as a disguised form of classification by sex, or creates unreasonable obstacles to the advancement by members of either sex into jobs which members of that sex would reasonably be expected to perform.

Comment [J12]: In new MHRC Reg.

SOURCE: 37 FR 6836, April 5, 1972, unless otherwise noted.

AUTHORITY: Sec. 713(b), 78 Stat.265, 42 U.S.C. 2000e-12.

29 C. F. R. § 1604.3, 29 CFR § 1604.3

Current through August 29, 2013; 78 FR 53369

© 2013 Thomson Reuters.
END OF DOCUMENT

Effective:[See Text Amendments]

Code of Federal Regulations Currentness

Title 29. Labor

Subtitle B. Regulations Relating to Labor

▣ Chapter XIV. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission

▣ Part 1604. Guidelines on Discrimination Because of Sex (Refs & Annos)

→ § **1604.4** **Discrimination against married women.**

Comment [J13]: New MHRC Reg provides as follows: "It is unlawful employment practice to forbid or restrict the employment of married women when such a prohibition or restriction is not applicable to married men."

(a) The Commission has determined that an employer's rule which forbids or restricts the employment of married women and which is not applicable to married men is a discrimination based on sex prohibited by title VII of the Civil Rights Act. It does not seem to us relevant that the rule is not directed against all females, but only against married females, for so long as sex is a factor in the application of the rule, such application involves a discrimination based on sex.

(b) It may be that under certain circumstances, such a rule could be justified within the meaning of section 703(e)(1) of title VII. We express no opinion on this question at this time except to point out that sex as a bona fide occupational qualification must be justified in terms of the peculiar requirements of the particular job and not on the basis of a general principle such as the desirability of spreading work.

SOURCE: 37 FR 6836, April 5, 1972, unless otherwise noted.

AUTHORITY: Sec. 713(b), 78 Stat.265, 42 U.S.C. 2000e-12.

29 C. F. R. § 1604.4, 29 CFR § 1604.4

Current through August 29, 2013; 78 FR 53369

© 2013 Thomson Reuters.

END OF DOCUMENT

Effective:[See Text Amendments]

Code of Federal Regulations Currentness

Title 29. Labor

Subtitle B. Regulations Relating to Labor

■ Chapter XIV. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission

■ Part 1604. Guidelines on Discrimination Because of Sex (Refs & Annos)

→ § **1604.5** **Job opportunities advertising.**

It is a violation of title VII for a help-wanted advertisement to indicate a preference, limitation, specification, or discrimination based on sex unless sex is a bona fide occupational qualification for the particular job involved. The placement of an advertisement in columns classified by publishers on the basis of sex, such as columns headed "Male" or "Female," will be considered an expression of a preference, limitation, specification, or discrimination based on sex.

Comment [J14]: New MHRC Reg provides, "It shall be an unlawful employment practice for any person to print or publish or cause to be printed or published any notice or advertisement relating to employment or membership in a labor organization indicating any preference, limitation, specification or discrimination based upon protected class unless there is a bona fide occupational qualification for such preference, limitation, specification or discrimination."

SOURCE: 37 FR 6836, April 5, 1972, unless otherwise noted.

AUTHORITY: Sec. 713(b), 78 Stat.265, 42 U.S.C. 2000e-12.

29 C. F. R. § 1604.5, 29 CFR § 1604.5

Current through August 29, 2013; 78 FR 53369

© 2013 Thomson Reuters.

END OF DOCUMENT

Effective:[See Text Amendments]

Code of Federal Regulations Currentness

Title 29. Labor

Subtitle B. Regulations Relating to Labor

Chapter XIV. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission

Part 1604. Guidelines on Discrimination Because of Sex (Refs & Annos)

→ § **1604.6 Employment agencies.**

Comment [J15]: (a) and (b) are included in MHRG Reg; (c) is not included.

(a) Section 703(b) of the Civil Rights Act specifically states that it shall be unlawful for an employment agency to discriminate against any individual because of sex. The Commission has determined that private employment agencies which deal exclusively with one sex are engaged in an unlawful employment practice, except to the extent that such agencies limit their services to furnishing employees for particular jobs for which sex is a bona fide occupational qualification.

(b) An employment agency that receives a job order containing an unlawful sex specification will share responsibility with the employer placing the job order if the agency fills the order knowing that the sex specification is not based upon a bona fide occupational qualification. However, an employment agency will not be deemed to be in violation of the law, regardless of the determination as to the employer, if the agency does not have reason to believe that the employer's claim of bona fide occupational qualification is without substance and the agency makes and maintains a written record available to the Commission of each such job order. Such record shall include the name of the employer, the description of the job and the basis for the employer's claim of bona fide occupational qualification.

(c) It is the responsibility of employment agencies to keep informed of opinions and decisions of the Commission on sex discrimination.

SOURCE: 37 FR 6836, April 5, 1972, unless otherwise noted.

AUTHORITY: Sec. 713(b), 78 Stat.265, 42 U.S.C. 2000e-12.

29 C. F. R. § 1604.6, 29 CFR § 1604.6

Current through August 29, 2013; 78 FR 53369

© 2013 Thomson Reuters.

END OF DOCUMENT

Effective:[See Text Amendments]

Code of Federal Regulations Currentness

Title 29. Labor

Subtitle B. Regulations Relating to Labor

■ Chapter XIV. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission

■ Part 1604. Guidelines on Discrimination Because of Sex (Refs & Annos)

→ § **1604.7** **Pre-employment inquiries as to sex.**

Comment [J16]: Not included because MHRA, unlike Title VII, has complete prohibition on pre-employment inquiries concerning sex (and other protected classes).

A pre-employment inquiry may ask “Male....., Female.....”; or “Mr. Mrs. Miss,” provided that the inquiry is made in good faith for a nondiscriminatory purpose. Any pre-employment inquiry in connection with prospective employment which expresses directly or indirectly any limitation, specification, or discrimination as to sex shall be unlawful unless based upon a bona fide occupational qualification.

SOURCE: 37 FR 6836, April 5, 1972, unless otherwise noted.

AUTHORITY: Sec. 713(b), 78 Stat.265, 42 U.S.C. 2000e-12.

29 C. F. R. § 1604.7, 29 CFR § 1604.7

Current through August 29, 2013; 78 FR 53369

© 2013 Thomson Reuters.

END OF DOCUMENT

Effective:[See Text Amendments]

Code of Federal Regulations Currentness

Title 29. Labor

Subtitle B. Regulations Relating to Labor

▣ Chapter XIV. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission

▣ Part 1604. Guidelines on Discrimination Because of Sex (Refs & Annos)

→ § **1604.8 Relationship of title VII to the Equal Pay Act.**

Comment [J17]: Not included in new MHRC Reg because there is no analogous provision in the MHRA to Title VII 703(h).

(a) The employee coverage of the prohibitions against discrimination based on sex contained in title VII is coextensive with that of the other prohibitions contained in title VII and is not limited by section 703(h) to those employees covered by the Fair Labor Standards Act.

(b) By virtue of section 703(h), a defense based on the Equal Pay Act may be raised in a proceeding under title VII.

(c) Where such a defense is raised the Commission will give appropriate consideration to the interpretations of the Administrator, Wage and Hour Division, Department of Labor, but will not be bound thereby.

SOURCE: 37 FR 6836, April 5, 1972, unless otherwise noted.

AUTHORITY: Sec. 713(b), 78 Stat.265, 42 U.S.C. 2000e-12.

29 C. F. R. § 1604.8, 29 CFR § 1604.8

Current through August 29, 2013; 78 FR 53369

© 2013 Thomson Reuters.

END OF DOCUMENT

Effective:[See Text Amendments]

Code of Federal Regulations Currentness

Title 29. Labor

Subtitle B. Regulations Relating to Labor

■ Chapter XIV. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission

■ Part 1604. Guidelines on Discrimination Because of Sex (Refs & Annos)

→ § 1604.9 Fringe benefits.

(a) “Fringe benefits,” as used herein, includes medical, hospital, accident, life insurance and retirement benefits; profit-sharing and bonus plans; leave; and other terms, conditions, and privileges of employment.

Comment [J18]: Included in new MHRC Reg, which also includes coverage of disability insurance and overtime/compensatory time benefits.

(b) It shall be an unlawful employment practice for an employer to discriminate between men and women with regard to fringe benefits.

Comment [J19]: Included in new MHRC Reg.

(c) Where an employer conditions benefits available to employees and their spouses and families on whether the employee is the “head of the household” or “principal wage earner” in the family unit, the benefits tend to be available only to male employees and their families. Due to the fact that such conditioning discriminatorily affects the rights of women employees, and that “head of household” or “principal wage earner” status bears no relationship to job performance, benefits which are so conditioned will be found a prima facie violation of the prohibitions against sex discrimination contained in the act.

Comment [J20]: Included in new MHRC Reg.

(d) It shall be an unlawful employment practice for an employer to make available benefits for the wives and families of male employees where the same benefits are not made available for the husbands and families of female employees; or to make available benefits for the wives of male employees which are not made available for female employees; or to make available benefits to the husbands of female employees which are not made available for male employees. An example of such an unlawful employment practice is a situation in which wives of male employees receive maternity benefits while female employees receive no such benefits.

Comment [J21]: Included in new MHRC Reg.

(e) It shall not be a defense under title VIII to a charge of sex discrimination in benefits that the cost of such benefits is greater with respect to one sex than the other.

Comment [J22]: Included in new MHRC Reg.

(f) It shall be an unlawful employment practice for an employer to have a pension or retirement plan which establishes different optional or compulsory retirement ages based on sex, or which differentiates in benefits on the basis of sex. A statement of the General Counsel of September 13, 1968, providing for a phasing out of differentials with regard to optional retirement age for certain incumbent employees is hereby withdrawn.

Comment [J23]: First sentence is included in new MHRC Reg; second is not.

SOURCE: 37 FR 6836, April 5, 1972, unless otherwise noted.

AUTHORITY: Sec. 713(b), 78 Stat.265, 42 U.S.C. 2000e-12.

29 C. F. R. § 1604.9, 29 CFR § 1604.9

Current through August 29, 2013; 78 FR 53369

© 2013 Thomson Reuters.
END OF DOCUMENT

Effective:[See Text Amendments]

Code of Federal Regulations Currentness

Title 29. Labor

Subtitle B. Regulations Relating to Labor

■ Chapter XIV. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission

■ Part 1604. Guidelines on Discrimination Because of Sex (Refs & Annos)

→ **§ 1604.10 Employment policies relating to pregnancy and childbirth.**

<For provision(s) affecting validity, see Sec. 713(b), 78 Stat. 265, 42 USCA § 2000e-12.>

(a) A written or unwritten employment policy or practice which excludes from employment applicants or employees because of pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions is in prima facie violation of title VII.

Comment [J24]: Included in new MHRC Reg.

(b) Disabilities caused or contributed to by pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions, for all job-related purposes, shall be treated the same as disabilities caused or contributed to by other medical conditions, under any health or disability insurance or sick leave plan available in connection with employment. Written or unwritten employment policies and practices involving matters such as the commencement and duration of leave, the availability of extensions, the accrual of seniority and other benefits and privileges, reinstatement, and payment under any health or disability insurance or sick leave plan, formal or informal, shall be applied to disability due to pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions on the same terms and conditions as they are applied to other disabilities. Health insurance benefits for abortion, except where the life of the mother would be endangered if the fetus were carried to term or where medical complications have arisen from an abortion, are not required to be paid by an employer; nothing herein, however, precludes an employer from providing abortion benefits or otherwise affects bargaining agreements in regard to abortion.

Comment [J25]: Included in new MHRC Reg.

(c) Where the termination of an employee who is temporarily disabled is caused by an employment policy under which insufficient or no leave is available, such a termination violates the Act if it has a disparate impact on employees of one sex and is not justified by business necessity.

Comment [J26]: Included in new MHRC Reg.

(d)(1) Any fringe benefit program, or fund, or insurance program which is in effect on October 31, 1978, which does not treat women affected by pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions the same as other persons not so affected but similar in their ability or inability to work, must be in compliance with the provisions of § 1604.10(b) by April 29, 1979. In order to come into compliance with the provisions of 1604.10(b), there can be no reduction of benefits or compensation which were in effect on October 31, 1978, before October 31, 1979 or the expiration of a collective bargaining agreement in effect on October 31, 1978, whichever is later.

Comment [J27]: Not included in new MHRC Reg.

(2) Any fringe benefit program implemented after October 31, 1978, must comply with the provisions of § 1604.10(b) upon implementation.

[44 FR 23805, Apr. 20, 1979]

SOURCE: 37 FR 6836, April 5, 1972, unless otherwise noted.

AUTHORITY: Sec. 713(b), 78 Stat.265, 42 U.S.C. 2000e-12.

29 C. F. R. § 1604.10, 29 CFR § 1604.10

Current through August 29, 2013; 78 FR 53369

© 2013 Thomson Reuters.

END OF DOCUMENT

Effective:[See Text Amendments]

Code of Federal Regulations Currentness

Title 29. Labor

Subtitle B. Regulations Relating to Labor

■ Chapter XIV. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission

■ Part 1604. Guidelines on Discrimination Because of Sex (Refs & Annos)

→ § 1604.11 Sexual harassment.

(a) Harassment on the basis of sex is a violation of section 703 of title VII. [FN1] Unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature constitute sexual harassment when (1) submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of an individual's employment, (2) submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment decisions affecting such individual, or (3) such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working environment.

Comment [J28]: Included in new MHRC Reg.

¹ The principles involved here continue to apply to race, color, religion or national origin.

(b) In determining whether alleged conduct constitutes sexual harassment, the Commission will look at the record as a whole and at the totality of the circumstances, such as the nature of the sexual advances and the context in which the alleged incidents occurred. The determination of the legality of a particular action will be made from the facts, on a case by case basis.

Comment [J29]: Included in new MHRC Reg.

(c) [Reserved]

(d) With respect to conduct between fellow employees, an employer is responsible for acts of sexual harassment in the workplace where the employer (or its agents or supervisory employees) knows or should have known of the conduct, unless it can show that it took immediate and appropriate corrective action.

Comment [J30]: Included in new MHRC Reg.

(e) An employer may also be responsible for the acts of non-employees, with respect to sexual

Comment [J31]: Included in new MHRC Reg.

harassment of employees in the workplace, where the employer (or its agents or supervisory employees) knows or should have known of the conduct and fails to take immediate and appropriate corrective action. In reviewing these cases the Commission will consider the extent of the employer's control and any other legal responsibility which the employer may have with respect to the conduct of such non-employees.

(f) Prevention is the best tool for the elimination of sexual harassment. An employer should take all steps necessary to prevent sexual harassment from occurring, such as affirmatively raising the subject, expressing strong disapproval, developing appropriate sanctions, informing employees of their right to raise and how to raise the issue of harassment under title VII, and developing methods to sensitize all concerned.

Comment [J32]: Included in new MHRC Reg.

(g) Other related practices: Where employment opportunities or benefits are granted because of an individual's submission to the employer's sexual advances or requests for sexual favors, the employer may be held liable for unlawful sex discrimination against other persons who were qualified for but denied that employment opportunity or benefit.

Comment [J33]: Included in new MHRC Reg.

[45 FR 74677, Nov. 10, 1980; 64 FR 58334, Oct. 29, 1999]

SOURCE: 37 FR 6836, April 5, 1972, unless otherwise noted.

AUTHORITY: Sec. 713(b), 78 Stat.265, 42 U.S.C. 2000e-12.

29 C. F. R. § 1604.11, 29 CFR § 1604.11

Current through August 29, 2013; 78 FR 53369

© 2013 Thomson Reuters.
END OF DOCUMENT

Effective:[See Text Amendments]

Code of Federal Regulations Currentness

Title 29. Labor

Subtitle B. Regulations Relating to Labor

▣ Chapter XIV. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission

▣ Part 1604. Guidelines on Discrimination Because of Sex (Refs & Annos)

→ **§ 1604.11 Sexual harassment.**

<Notes of Decisions for 29 CFR § 1604.11 are displayed in separate documents. Notes of Decisions for subdivisions II and III (in part) are contained in this document. For text of section, and references, see first document for 29 CFR § 1604.11. For Notes of Decisions for subdivisions I and III (in part), see documents for 29 CFR § 1604.11, ante and post.>

SOURCE: 37 FR 6836, April 5, 1972, unless otherwise noted.

AUTHORITY: Sec. 713(b), 78 Stat.265, 42 U.S.C. 2000e-12.

29 C. F. R. § 1604.11, 29 CFR § 1604.11

Current through August 29, 2013; 78 FR 53369

© 2013 Thomson Reuters.

END OF DOCUMENT

Effective:[See Text Amendments]

Code of Federal Regulations Currentness

Title 29. Labor

Subtitle B. Regulations Relating to Labor

▣ Chapter XIV. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission

▣ Part 1604. Guidelines on Discrimination Because of Sex (Refs & Annos)

→ **§ 1604.11 Sexual harassment.**

<Notes of Decisions for 29 CFR § 1604.11 are displayed in separate documents. Notes of Decisions for subdivision III (in part) are contained in this document. For text of section, and references, see first document for 29 CFR § 1604.11. For Notes of Decisions for subdivisions I to III (in part), see documents for 29 CFR § 1604.11, ante.>

SOURCE: 37 FR 6836, April 5, 1972, unless otherwise noted.

AUTHORITY: Sec. 713(b), 78 Stat.265, 42 U.S.C. 2000e-12.

29 C. F. R. § 1604.11, 29 CFR § 1604.11

Current through August 29, 2013; 78 FR 53369

© 2013 Thomson Reuters.

END OF DOCUMENT

Effective:[See Text Amendments]

Code of Federal Regulations Currentness

Title 29. Labor

Subtitle B. Regulations Relating to Labor

▣ Chapter XIV. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission

▣ Part 1604. Guidelines on Discrimination Because of Sex (Refs & Annos)

→ **Appendix A to § 1604.11--Background Information**

The Commission has rescinded § 1604.11(c) of the Guidelines on Sexual Harassment, which set forth the standard of employer liability for harassment by supervisors. That section is no longer valid, in light of the Supreme Court decisions in *Burlington Industries, Inc. v. Ellerth*, 524 U.S. 742 (1998), and *Faragher v. City of Boca Raton*, 524 U.S. 775 (1998). The Commission has issued a policy document that examines the Faragher and Ellerth decisions and provides detailed guidance on the issue of vicarious liability for harassment by supervisors. EEOC Enforcement Guidance: Vicarious Employer Liability for Unlawful Harassment by Supervisors (6/18/99), EEOC Compliance Manual (BNA), N:4075 [Binder 3]; also available through EEOC's web site, at www.eeoc.gov., or by calling the EEOC Publications Distribution Center, at 1-800-669-3362 (voice), 1-800-800-3302 (TTY).

[64 FR 58334, Oct. 29, 1999]

SOURCE: 37 FR 6836, April 5, 1972, unless otherwise noted.

AUTHORITY: Sec. 713(b), 78 Stat.265, 42 U.S.C. 2000e-12.

29 C. F. R. § 1604.11, App. A, 29 CFR § 1604.11, App. A

Current through August 29, 2013; 78 FR 53369

© 2013 Thomson Reuters.

END OF DOCUMENT

Effective:[See Text Amendments]

Code of Federal Regulations Currentness

Title 29. Labor

Subtitle B. Regulations Relating to Labor

▣ Chapter XIV. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission

▣ Part 1604. Guidelines on Discrimination Because of Sex (Refs & Annos)

→ APPENDIX TO PART 1604--QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ON THE PREGNANCY DISCRIMINATION ACT, PUB.L. 95-555, 92 STAT. 2076 (1978)

Introduction

On October 31, 1978, President Carter signed into law the Pregnancy Discrimination Act (Pub.L. 95-955). The Act is an amendment to title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 which prohibits, among other things, discrimination in employment on the basis of sex. The Pregnancy Discrimination Act makes it clear that “because of sex” or “on the basis of sex”, as used in title VII, includes “because of or on the basis of pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions.” Therefore, title VII prohibits discrimination in employment against women affected by pregnancy or related conditions.

The basic principle of the Act is that women affected by pregnancy and related conditions must be treated the same as other applicants and employees on the basis of their ability or inability to work. A woman is therefore protected against such practices as being fired, or refused a job or promotion, merely because she is pregnant or has had an abortion. She usually cannot be forced to go on leave as long as she can still work. If other employees who take disability leave are entitled to get their jobs back when they are able to work again, so are women who have been unable to work because of pregnancy.

In the area of fringe benefits, such as disability benefits, sick leave and health insurance, the same principle applies. A woman unable to work for pregnancy-related reasons is entitled to disability benefits or sick leave on the same basis as employees unable to work for other medical reasons. Also, any health insurance provided must cover expenses for pregnancy-related conditions on the

same basis as expenses for other medical conditions. However, health insurance for expenses arising from abortion is not required except where the life of the mother would be endangered if the fetus were carried to term, or where medical complications have arisen from an abortion.

Some questions and answers about the Pregnancy Discrimination Act follow. Although the questions and answers often use only the term "employer," the Act--and these questions and answers--apply also to unions and other entities covered by title VII.

1. Q. What is the effective date of the Pregnancy Discrimination Act?

A. The Act became effective on October 31, 1978, except that with respect to fringe benefit programs in effect on that date, the Act will take effect 180 days thereafter, that is, April 29, 1979.

To the extent that title VII already required employers to treat persons affected by pregnancy-related conditions the same as persons affected by other medical conditions, the Act does not change employee rights arising prior to October 31, 1978, or April 29, 1979. Most employment practices relating to pregnancy, childbirth and related conditions--whether concerning fringe benefits or other practices--were already controlled by title VII prior to this Act. For example, title VII has always prohibited an employer from firing, or refusing to hire or promote, a woman because of pregnancy or related conditions, and from failing to accord a woman on pregnancy-related leave the same seniority retention and accrual accorded those on other disability leaves.

2. Q. If an employer had a sick leave policy in effect on October 31, 1978, by what date must the employer bring its policy into compliance with the Act?

A. With respect to payment of benefits, an employer has until April 29, 1979, to bring into compliance any fringe benefit or insurance program, including a sick leave policy, which was in effect on October 31, 1978. However, any such policy or program created after October 31, 1978, must be in compliance when created.

With respect to all aspects of sick leave policy other than payment of benefits, such as the terms governing retention and accrual of seniority, credit for vacation, and resumption of former job on return from sick leave, equality of treatment was required by title VII without the Amendment.

3. Q. Must an employer provide benefits for pregnancy-related conditions to an employee whose pregnancy begins prior to April 29, 1979, and continues beyond that date?

A. As of April 29, 1979, the effective date of the Act's requirements, an employer must provide the same benefits for pregnancy-related conditions as it provides for other conditions, regardless of when the pregnancy began. Thus, disability benefits must be paid for all absences on or after April 29, 1979, resulting from pregnancy-related temporary disabilities to the same extent as they are paid for absences resulting from other temporary disabilities. For example, if an employee gives birth before April 29, 1979, but is still unable to work on or after that date, she is entitled to the same disability benefits available to other employees. Similarly, medical insurance benefits must be paid for pregnancy-related expenses incurred on or after April 29, 1979.

If an employer requires an employee to be employed for a predetermined period prior to being eligible for insurance coverage, the period prior to April 29, 1979, during which a pregnant employee has been employed must be credited toward the eligibility waiting period on the same basis as for any other employee.

As to any programs instituted for the first time after October 31, 1978, coverage for pregnancy-related conditions must be provided in the same manner as for other medical conditions.

4. Q. Would the answer to the preceding question be the same if the employee became pregnant prior to October 31, 1978?

A. Yes.

5. Q. If, for pregnancy-related reasons, an employee is unable to perform the functions of her job, does the employer have to provide her an alternative job?

A. An employer is required to treat an employee temporarily unable to perform the functions of her job because of her pregnancy-related condition in the same manner as it treats other temporarily disabled employees, whether by providing modified tasks, alternative assignments, disability leaves, leaves without pay, etc. For example, a woman's primary job function may be the operation of a machine, and, incidental to that function, she may carry materials to and from the machine. If other employees temporarily unable to lift are relieved of these functions, pregnant employees also unable to lift must be temporarily relieved of the function.

6. Q. What procedures may an employer use to determine whether to place on leave as unable to work a pregnant employee who claims she is able to work or deny leave to a pregnant employee

who claims that she is disabled from work?

A. An employer may not single out pregnancy-related conditions for special procedures for determining an employee's ability to work. However, an employer may use any procedure used to determine the ability of all employees to work. For example, if an employer requires its employees to submit a doctor's statement concerning their inability to work before granting leave or paying sick benefits, the employer may require employees affected by pregnancy-related conditions to submit such statement. Similarly, if an employer allows its employees to obtain doctor's statements from their personal physicians for absences due to other disabilities or return dates from other disabilities, it must accept doctor's statements from personal physicians for absences and return dates connected with pregnancy-related disabilities.

7. Q. Can an employer have a rule which prohibits an employee from returning to work for a predetermined length of time after childbirth?

A. No.

8. Q. If an employee has been absent from work as a result of a pregnancy-related condition and recovers, may her employer require her to remain on leave until after her baby is born?

A. No. An employee must be permitted to work at all times during pregnancy when she is able to perform her job.

9. Q. Must an employer hold open the job of an employee who is absent on leave because she is temporarily disabled by pregnancy-related conditions?

A. Unless the employee on leave has informed the employer that she does not intend to return to work, her job must be held open for her return on the same basis as jobs are held open for employees on sick or disability leave for other reasons.

10. Q. May an employer's policy concerning the accrual and crediting of seniority during absences for medical conditions be different for employees affected by pregnancy-related conditions than for other employees?

A. No. An employer's seniority policy must be the same for employees absent for pregnancy-related reasons as for those absent for other medical reasons.

11. Q. For purposes of calculating such matters as vacations and pay increases, may an employer credit time spent on leave for pregnancy-related reasons differently than time spent on leave for other reasons?

A. No. An employer's policy with respect to crediting time for the purpose of calculating such matters as vacations and pay increases cannot treat employees on leave for pregnancy-related reasons less favorably than employees on leave for other reasons. For example, if employees on leave for medical reasons are credited with the time spent on leave when computing entitlement to vacation or pay raises, an employee on leave for pregnancy-related disability is entitled to the same kind of time credit.

12. Q. Must an employer hire a woman who is medically unable, because of a pregnancy-related condition, to perform a necessary function of a job?

A. An employer cannot refuse to hire a woman because of her pregnancy-related condition so long as she is able to perform the major functions necessary to the job. Nor can an employer refuse to hire her because of its preferences against pregnant workers or the preferences of co-workers, clients, or customers.

13. Q. May an employer limit disability benefits for pregnancy-related conditions to married employees?

A. No.

14. Q. If an employer has an all female workforce or job classification, must benefits be provided for pregnancy-related conditions?

A. Yes. If benefits are provided for other conditions, they must also be provided for pregnancy-related conditions.

15. Q. For what length of time must an employer who provides income maintenance benefits for temporary disabilities provide such benefits for pregnancy-related disabilities?

A. Benefits should be provided for as long as the employee is unable to work for medical reasons unless some other limitation is set for all other temporary disabilities, in which case pregnan-

cy-related disabilities should be treated the same as other temporary disabilities.

16. Q. Must an employer who provides benefits for long-term or permanent disabilities provide such benefits for pregnancy-related conditions?

A. Yes. Benefits for long-term or permanent disabilities resulting from pregnancy-related conditions must be provided to the same extent that such benefits are provided for other conditions which result in long-term or permanent disability.

17. Q. If an employer provides benefits to employees on leave, such as installment purchase disability insurance, payment of premiums for health, life or other insurance, continued payments into pension, saving or profit sharing plans, must the same benefits be provided for those on leave for pregnancy-related conditions?

A. Yes, the employer must provide the same benefits for those on leave for pregnancy-related conditions as for those on leave for other reasons.

18. Q. Can an employee who is absent due to a pregnancy-related disability be required to exhaust vacation benefits before receiving sick leave pay or disability benefits?

A. No. If employees who are absent because of other disabling causes receive sick leave pay or disability benefits without any requirement that they first exhaust vacation benefits, the employer cannot impose this requirement on an employee absent for a pregnancy-related cause.

18 (A). Q. Must an employer grant leave to a female employee for childcare purposes after she is medically able to return to work following leave necessitated by pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions?

A. While leave for childcare purposes is not covered by the Pregnancy Discrimination Act, ordinary title VII principles would require that leave for childcare purposes be granted on the same basis as leave which is granted to employees for other non-medical reasons. For example, if an employer allows its employees to take leave without pay or accrued annual leave for travel or education which is not job related, the same type of leave must be granted to those who wish to remain on leave for infant care, even though they are medically able to return to work.

19. Q. If State law requires an employer to provide disability insurance for a specified period

before and after childbirth, does compliance with the State law fulfill the employer's obligation under the Pregnancy Discrimination Act?

A. Not necessarily. It is an employer's obligation to treat employees temporarily disabled by pregnancy in the same manner as employees affected by other temporary disabilities. Therefore, any restrictions imposed by State law on benefits for pregnancy-related disabilities, but not for other disabilities, do not excuse the employer from treating the individuals in both groups of employees the same. If, for example, a State law requires an employer to pay a maximum of 26 weeks benefits for disabilities other than pregnancy-related ones but only six weeks for pregnancy-related disabilities, the employer must provide benefits for the additional weeks to an employee disabled by pregnancy-related conditions, up to the maximum provided other disabled employees.

20. Q. If a State or local government provides its own employees income maintenance benefits for disabilities, may it provide different benefits for disabilities arising from pregnancy-related conditions than for disabilities arising from other conditions?

A. No. State and local governments, as employers, are subject to the Pregnancy Discrimination Act in the same way as private employers and must bring their employment practices and programs into compliance with the Act, including disability and health insurance programs.

21. Q. Must an employer provide health insurance coverage for the medical expenses of pregnancy-related conditions of the spouses of male employees? Of the dependents of all employees?

A. Where an employer provides no coverage for dependents, the employer is not required to institute such coverage. However, if an employer's insurance program covers the medical expenses of spouses of female employees, then it must equally cover the medical expenses of spouses of male employees, including those arising from pregnancy-related conditions.

But the insurance does not have to cover the pregnancy-related conditions of other dependents as long as it excludes the pregnancy-related conditions of the dependents of male and female employees equally.

22. Q. Must an employer provide the same level of health insurance coverage for the pregnancy-related medical conditions of the spouses of male employees as it provides for its female employees?

A. No. It is not necessary to provide the same level of coverage for the pregnancy-related medical conditions of spouses of male employees as for female employees. However, where the employer provides coverage for the medical conditions of the spouses of its employees, then the level of coverage for pregnancy-related medical conditions of the spouses of male employees must be the same as the level of coverage for all other medical conditions of the spouses of female employees. For example, if the employer covers employees for 100 percent of reasonable and customary expenses sustained for a medical condition, but only covers dependent spouses for 50 percent of reasonable and customary expenses for their medical conditions, the pregnancy-related expenses of the male employee's spouse must be covered at the 50 percent level.

23. Q. May an employer offer optional dependent coverage which excludes pregnancy-related medical conditions or offers less coverage for pregnancy-related medical conditions where the total premium for the optional coverage is paid by the employee?

A. No. Pregnancy-related medical conditions must be treated the same as other medical conditions under any health or disability insurance or sick leave plan available in connection with employment, regardless of who pays the premiums.

24. Q. Where an employer provides its employees a choice among several health insurance plans, must coverage for pregnancy-related conditions be offered in all of the plans?

A. Yes. Each of the plans must cover pregnancy-related conditions. For example, an employee with a single coverage policy cannot be forced to purchase a more expensive family coverage policy in order to receive coverage for her own pregnancy-related condition.

25. Q. On what basis should an employee be reimbursed for medical expenses arising from pregnancy, childbirth or related conditions?

A. Pregnancy-related expenses should be reimbursed in the same manner as are expenses incurred for other medical conditions. Therefore, whether a plan reimburses the employees on a fixed basis, or a percentage of reasonable and customary charge basis, the same basis should be used for reimbursement of expenses incurred for pregnancy-related conditions. Furthermore, if medical costs for pregnancy-related conditions increase, reevaluation of the reimbursement level should be conducted in the same manner as are cost reevaluations of increases for other medical conditions.

Coverage provided by a health insurance program for other conditions must be provided for

pregnancy-related conditions. For example, if a plan provides major medical coverage, pregnancy-related conditions must be so covered. Similarly, if a plan covers the cost of a private room for other conditions, the plan must cover the cost of a private room for pregnancy-related conditions. Finally, where a health insurance plan covers office visits to physicians, pre-natal and post-natal visits must be included in such coverage.

26. Q. May an employer limit payment of costs for pregnancy-related medical conditions to a specified dollar amount set forth in an insurance policy, collective bargaining agreement or other statement of benefits to which an employee is entitled?

A. The amounts payable for the costs incurred for pregnancy-related conditions can be limited only to the same extent as are costs for other conditions. Maximum recoverable dollar amounts may be specified for pregnancy-related conditions if such amounts are similarly specified for other conditions, and so long as the specified amounts in all instances cover the same proportion of actual costs. If, in addition to the scheduled amount for other procedures, additional costs are paid for, either directly or indirectly, by the employer, such additional payments must also be paid for pregnancy-related procedures.

27. Q. May an employer impose a different deductible for payment of costs for pregnancy-related medical conditions than for costs of other medical conditions?

A. No. Neither an additional deductible, an increase in the usual deductible, nor a larger deductible can be imposed for coverage for pregnancy-related medical costs, whether as a condition for inclusion of pregnancy-related costs in the policy or for payment of the costs when incurred. Thus, if pregnancy-related costs are the first incurred under the policy, the employee is required to pay only the same deductible as would otherwise be required had other medical costs been the first incurred. Once this deductible has been paid, no additional deductible can be required for other medical procedures. If the usual deductible has already been paid for other medical procedures, no additional deductible can be required when pregnancy-related costs are later incurred.

28. Q. If a health insurance plan excludes the payment of benefits for any conditions existing at the time the insured's coverage becomes effective (pre-existing condition clause), can benefits be denied for medical costs arising from a pregnancy existing at the time the coverage became effective?

A. Yes. However, such benefits cannot be denied unless the pre-existing condition clause also

excludes benefits for other pre-existing conditions in the same way.

29. Q. If an employer's insurance plan provides benefits after the insured's employment has ended (i.e. extended benefits) for costs connected with pregnancy and delivery where conception occurred while the insured was working for the employer, but not for the costs of any other medical condition which began prior to termination of employment, may an employer (a) continue to pay these extended benefits for pregnancy-related medical conditions but not for other medical conditions, or (b) terminate these benefits for pregnancy-related conditions?

A. Where a health insurance plan currently provides extended benefits for other medical conditions on a less favorable basis than for pregnancy-related medical conditions, extended benefits must be provided for other medical conditions on the same basis as for pregnancy-related medical conditions. Therefore, an employer can neither continue to provide less benefits for other medical conditions nor reduce benefits currently paid for pregnancy-related medical conditions.

30. Q. Where an employer's health insurance plan currently requires total disability as a prerequisite for payment of extended benefits for other medical conditions but not for pregnancy-related costs, may the employer now require total disability for payment of benefits for pregnancy-related medical conditions as well?

A. Since extended benefits cannot be reduced in order to come into compliance with the Act, a more stringent prerequisite for payment of extended benefits for pregnancy-related medical conditions, such as a requirement for total disability, cannot be imposed. Thus, in this instance, in order to comply with the Act, the employer must treat other medical conditions as pregnancy-related conditions are treated.

31. Q. Can the added cost of bringing benefit plans into compliance with the Act be apportioned between the employer and employee?

A. The added cost, if any, can be apportioned between the employer and employee in the same proportion that the cost of the fringe benefit plan was apportioned on October 31, 1978, if that apportionment was nondiscriminatory. If the costs were not apportioned on October 31, 1978, they may not be apportioned in order to come into compliance with the Act. However, in no circumstance may male or female employees be required to pay unequal apportionments on the basis of sex or pregnancy.

32. Q. In order to come into compliance with the Act, may an employer reduce benefits or compensation?

A. In order to come into compliance with the Act, benefits or compensation which an employer was paying on October 31, 1978 cannot be reduced before October 31, 1979 or before the expiration of a collective bargaining agreement in effect on October 31, 1978, whichever is later.

Where an employer has not been in compliance with the Act by the times specified in the Act, and attempts to reduce benefits, or compensation, the employer may be required to remedy its practices in accord with ordinary title VII remedial principles.

33. Q. Can an employer self-insure benefits for pregnancy-related conditions if it does not self-insure benefits for other medical conditions?

A. Yes, so long as the benefits are the same. In measuring whether benefits are the same, factors other than the dollar coverage paid should be considered. Such factors include the range of choice of physicians and hospitals, and the processing and promptness of payment of claims.

34. Q. Can an employer discharge, refuse to hire or otherwise discriminate against a woman because she has had an abortion?

A. No. An employer cannot discriminate in its employment practices against a woman who has had an abortion.

35. Q. Is an employer required to provide fringe benefits for abortions if fringe benefits are provided for other medical conditions?

A. All fringe benefits other than health insurance, such as sick leave, which are provided for other medical conditions, must be provided for abortions. Health insurance, however, need be provided for abortions only where the life of the woman would be endangered if the fetus were carried to term or where medical complications arise from an abortion.

36. Q. If complications arise during the course of an abortion, as for instance excessive hemorrhaging, must an employer's health insurance plan cover the additional cost due to the complications of the abortion?

A. Yes. The plan is required to pay those additional costs attributable to the complications of the abortion. However, the employer is not required to pay for the abortion itself, except where the life of the mother would be endangered if the fetus were carried to term.

37. Q. May an employer elect to provide insurance coverage for abortions?

A. Yes. The Act specifically provides that an employer is not precluded from providing benefits for abortions whether directly or through a collective bargaining agreement, but if an employer decides to cover the costs of abortion, the employer must do so in the same manner and to the same degree as it covers other medical conditions.

[44 FR 23805, Apr. 20, 1979]

SOURCE: 37 FR 6836, April 5, 1972, unless otherwise noted.

AUTHORITY: Sec. 713(b), 78 Stat.265, 42 U.S.C. 2000e-12.

29 C. F. R. Pt. 1604, App., 29 CFR Pt. 1604, App.

Current through August 29, 2013; 78 FR 53369

© 2013 Thomson Reuters.

END OF DOCUMENT